STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

RECEIVED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

JUN 09 2017

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Lancaster County

SC Court of Appeals

\_\_\_\_\_  
The Honorable H. Clayton Walker, Jr., Special Referee

Evelyn M. Lowery,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The Special Referee erred in declaring deeds executed by the heirs of the estate to be null and finding that there was no evidence to support a claim of adverse possession.
2. The Special Referee erred in failing to value the properties and the improvements of the lots assigned to the individual heirs with homes located on the property to determine whether they received more than their proportionate share of the joint property.
3. The Special Referee erred in admitting into evidence a handwritten statement allegedly written by Darryl Waiters, who was deceased at the time of the trial.
4. The Special Referee erred in concluding that the Appellant's family cut approximately \$8,189.00 of timber from the property during the pendency of this action.
5. The Special Referee erred in failing to allow Appellant and remaining co-Appellants as non-petitioning joint tenants or tenants in common the opportunity to purchase the property or share of the property prior to a trial pursuant to SC Code of Laws Section 15-61-25.
6. The Special Referee erred in valuing the property at \$1,200.00 per acre.
7. The Special Referee erred in proceeding with the partition action once he became aware that there were possibly heirs of one of the children of Ken Waiters, whose name was Beaudry, during the trial, which resulting in not protecting the interests of the unknown heirs who could have been incompetent or minors.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced with the filing of a Summons and Complaint on or about August 23, 2005 to partition land owned by multiple generations of family members. An amended complaint was filed on or about November 23, 2005. The amended complaint included property conveyed to Can Waiters by deed of J.P. Williams filed in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Lancaster County, South Carolina on December 7, 1905 in Deed Book 0-2 at page 330. The amended complaint further included tracks of real property derived from that tract which had since been conveyed to third parties, including property conveyed to William C. Waiters, John Waiters, et.al. by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book D-6 at Page 6067 consisting of approximately 109 with Tax Map #130-00-28-00; property conveyed to William C. Waiters, et.al. by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book W-6 at Page 167, Deed Book Z-9 at Page 51, Deed Book 0-9 at Page 125 and Deed Book 51 at Page 329, consisting of approximately 30 with Tax Map #130-00-28-01; property conveyed to Bennie Evelyn M. Martin by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book C-6 Page 6149 consisting of approximately 1.673 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.00; property conveyed to Mary L. Bailey, Eula N. Daniel, James C. Bell, Monique Thompson, Darrell Waiters, Phinessa R. Waiters, Dervin Bailey and William G. Bailey by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book 139 at page 82 consisting of approximately 2 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.01; property conveyed to Janice W. Dixon by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book 134 at page 144 consisting of approximately 1 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.02; property conveyed to Bennie Evelyn M. Martin and William Martin by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book J-0 at Page 34 consisting of

approximately 27.78 acres with Tax Map#146-00-22.03; property conveyed to Mildred Bell McCray by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book C-6 at page 6154 consisting of approximately 2.73 acres with Tax Map#146-00-22.04; property conveyed to John Lee Moore, Jr. by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book C-6 at page 6153 consisting of approximately 3.93 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.05; property conveyed to William E. Bell by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book C-6 at page 6155 consisting of approximately 3.26 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.06; property conveyed to Minnette Malone Sims by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book C-6 at page 6152 consisting of approximately 3.114 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.07; property conveyed to Lorenzo and Blanche B. Bell by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book D-6 at page 572 consisting of approximately 1 acre with Tax Map #146-00-22.08; property conveyed to Cerento Martin Eccles by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book C-6 at page 6150 consisting of approximately 1.676 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.09; property conveyed to Lucinda Bell Miller by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book E-6 at page 1811 consisting of approximately .4543 acres with Tax Map #146-00-22.10; and property conveyed to Chris Waiters by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book 168 at page 214 consisting of approximately 2 acres with Tax Map #146-00-23.01. Respondent further filed for Injunctive Relief on or about November 23, 2005 regarding the above referenced properties seeking to prevent heirs and/or third parties from cutting timber from the properties or otherwise damaging, destroying or diminishing the values of said properties.

Respondent alleged that Can Waiters died intestate in 1906 in possession of above described properties, survived by his wife, Serena Waiters and nine (9) children, William Waiters, Maggie Waiters Sweet, Henry Waiters, Manuel Waiters, Eliza Waiters Thompson, Anna Waiters Hall, Annie B. Tilman, Boodley Waiters and Robert Waiters. Upon the death of Can Waiters one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Serena Waiters, and two-thirds (2/3) of his interest in real property passed to his children.

Respondent further alleged that Can Waiter's wife, Serena Waiters died intestate on December 24, 1926, leaving as her sole heirs her children above-named. Boodley Waiters and Robert Waiters, are believed to have died intestate, unwed and without children, however their date of death is unknown. Their interest in the subject real property passed to their seven siblings, William Waiters, Maggie Waiters Sweet, Henry Waiters, Manuel Waiters, Eliza Waiters Thompson, Anna Waiters, Hall and Annie B. Tilman, and their children.

William Waiters, son of Can Waiters, died intestate on October 7, 1951 survived by his wife, Mary Waiters and survived by six (6) children, Ella Ree Belk, Willie Mae James, William C. Waiters, Mary L. Bailey, Tommiecena Bascomb and James H. Waiters. Upon the death of William Waiters one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Mary Waiters, and two-thirds (2/3) of his interest in real property passed to his children.

Mary Waiters died intestate on June 4, 1964, leaving as her sole heirs her children above-named. It is further believed that Ella Ree Belk, daughter of William and Mary Waiters, died intestate on June 22, 1989 unmarried and survived by one (1) child, Wilhelmina Cook. Wilhelmina Cook, daughter of William and Mary Waiters died testate on September 15, 1999. The Estate of Wilhelmina Cook was administered in the Probate Court of Lancaster County, South Carolina Case Number 2000ES2900079. The interest of Wilhelmina Cook was devised in equal parts to Mary L. Bailey, and her living children James C. Bell,

Dervin W. Bailey and William G. Bailey, and to Eula N. Daniels and her living children Darrell Waiters, Monique Thompson and Phinessa R. Waiters.

Dervin W. Bailey died in April 2003, unmarried and without children leaving his mother Mary L. Bailey as his sole heir.

Willie Mae James, daughter of William and Mary Waiters, died intestate February 21, 1996 survived by her husband, Wyatt James and five (5) children, Eula M. Daniel, Pearl Mahjoub, Tommie Lee James, John Willie James and Crawford W. James. Upon the death of Willie Mae James one-half (1/2) of her interest in real property passed to her husband, Wyatt James, and one-half (1/2) of her interest in real property passed to her issue. Wyatt James, husband of Willie Mae James, died unmarried and intestate in 1997, the specific date which could not be determined, leaving his children as his sole heirs. Crawford W. James died intestate, unmarried and without children, leaving his siblings as his sole heirs.

Tommiecena Bascomb, daughter of William and Mary Waiters, died intestate after July 1, 1987, however, the specific date could not be determined, survived by her husband, Charlie Bascomb and one (1) child, Harold Bascomb and predeceased by three (3) children, Cynthia Williams, Yolanda McPhaul and Kathy Bascomb. Upon information and belief, upon the death of Tommiecena Bascomb one-half (1/2) of her interest in real property passed to her husband, Charlie Bascomb, and one-half (1/2) of her interest in real property passed to her issue.

Cynthia Williams, daughter of Tommie Cena Bascomb and Charlie Bascomb, died intestate on January 11, 1990, unmarried and survived by two (2) children, Nakia Williams, and Nerisse Williams, as her sole heirs.

Yolanda McPhaul, daughter of Tommie Cena Bascomb and Charlie Bascomb, died intestate, however, the specific date could not be determined, unmarried and survived by two (2) children, Carlton McPhaul and DonnelJ McPhaul, as her sole heirs.

Kathy Bascomb, daughter of Tommiecena Bascomb and Charlie Bascomb, died intestate, however, the specific date could not be determined, unmarried, without children, leaving her father, Charlie Bascomb as her sole heir.

James H. Waiters, son of William and Mary Waiters died intestate on September 9, 2000, survived by his wife Idell R. Waiters, and by six (6) children, Ella R. Waiters, Eddie Waiters, Elizabeth Ann Moore, Donald Waiters, Brenda Wade and Glenda Waiters, and predeceased by one (1) child, Willie James Waiters. Upon the death of James H. Waiters one-half (1/2) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Idell R. Waiters, and one-half (1/2) of his interest in real property passed to his issue.

Willie James Waiters, son of James Henry Waiters and Idell R. Waiters, died intestate on or about March 2, 2003, unmarried, survived by two (2) children, Wilric Waiters and Jaquanda Hammond, as his sole heirs. Jaquanda Hammond, daughter of Willie James Waiters, died intestate, unmarried, leaving her brother Wilric Waiters as her sole heir. The one-seventh (1/7) undivided interest that William Waiters inherited from the estate of Can Waiters is now owned by the heirs of William Waiters as follows:

Mary L Bailey	5/24
James C. Bell	1/48
William Bailey	1/48
Eula M. Daniels	3/48
Darrell Waiters	1/48
Monique Thompson	1/48
Phinessa R. Waiters	1/48
Pearl Mahjoub	1/24
Tommie Lee James	1/24
John William James	1/24
William C. Waiters	5/24
Charlie Bascomb	5/48
Harold Bascomb	1/48
Nakia Williams	1/96
Nerisse Williams	1/96
Carlton McPhaul	1/96
Donnell McPhaul	1/96
Idell R. Waiters	1/12
Ella R. Waiters	1/84
Eddie Waiters	1/84

Elizabeth Ann Moore	1/84
Donald Waiters	1/84
Brenda Waiters	1/84
Glenda Waiters	1/84
Wilric Waiters	1/84

Maggie Waiters Sweet, daughter of Can Waiters, died intestate on January 10, 1949, survived by her husband, William Sweet and survived by six (6) children, Dorothy Johnson, Eva Johnson, Maggie Sweet, Marie Richardson, Clifford Sweet and Herman Sweet. Upon the death of Maggie Waiters Sweet one-third (1/3) of her interest in real property passed to her husband, William Sweet, and two-thirds (2/3) of her interest in real property passed to her children. That upon information and belief, William Sweet died in October 1987 intestate and unmarried.

Dorothy Johnson, daughter of Maggie and William Sweet, is a resident of Crossett, Arkansas. Eva Johnson, daughter of Maggie and William Sweet, died intestate March 5, 1931, unmarried, and was survived by three (3) children, Ruth Jordan, Ronald Sweet and Donald Johnson, as her sole heirs. Maggie Sweet, daughter of Maggie and William Sweet, died intestate on December 5, 1948, unmarried, without children, leaving her parents, Maggie and William Sweet, as her sole heirs. Marie Richardson, daughter of Maggie and William Sweet, died intestate March 22, 1996, unmarried, and survived by five (5) children, David Lee Richardson, Raymond Richardson, Lafayette Richardson, Jr., Robert C. Richardson and Bill Moses, as her sole heirs.

Clifford Sweet, son of Maggie and William Sweet, died intestate August 18, 1994, unmarried, a resident of Las Vegas, Nevada, survived by one (1) child, Margaret Jones, as his sole heir. Herman Sweet, son of Maggie and William Sweet, died intestate August 14, 1974, unmarried and survived by one (1) child, Herman Sweet, Jr., as his sole heir. The one-seventh (1/7) undivided interest that Maggie Waiters Sweet, inherited from the estate of Can Waiters is now owned by the heirs of Maggie Waiters Sweet as follows:

Dorothy Johnson	1/5
Ruth Jordan	1/15

Ronald Sweet	1/15
Donald Johnson	1/15
David Lee Richardson	1/25
Raymond Richardson	1/25
Lafayette Richardson, Jr.	1/25
Robert C. Richardson	1/25
Bill Moses	1/25
Margaret Jones	1/5
Herman Sweet, Jr.	1/5

Henry Waiters, son of Can Waiters, died intestate on December 13, 1966 survived by his wife, Bessie Waiters and survived by seven (7) children, Irene Watts, David H. Waiters, Harry L. Waiters, Evelyn M. Lowery, Clairee Addison, Mary E. Coleman and John C. Waiters.

John H. Coleman and Rosa L. Burk and their descendants are named as Appellants because the descendants of John H. Coleman and Rosa L. Burk may claim that John H. Coleman and/or Rosa L. Burk are lawful children of Henry Waiters. However, upon information and belief, as of the date of the filing of this complaint, no one purporting to be a child of Henry Waiters has obtained an Order from any Court of Competent Jurisdiction declaring them to be the child of Henry Waiters. Therefore, John H. Coleman and Rosa L. Burk and their descendants and persons claiming an interest in the subject property through them should be excluded as heirs of Henry Waiters.

Upon the death of Henry Waiters one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Bessie Waiters, and two-thirds (2/3) of his interest in real property passed to his children. That upon information and belief, Bessie Waiters, died unmarried and intestate on April 24, 1982 leaving her seven (7) children as her lawful heirs. John H. Coleman, who may be alleged to be the son of Henry Waiters, died intestate on June 22, 1989, unmarried, and survived by three (3) children, Eloise Coleman, Hazel Mae Coleman and Loretta Coleman, and predeceased by four (4) children, John H. Coleman, Jr., Betty Coleman, Nathaniel Coleman and Dave Coleman.

John H. Coleman, Jr., son of John H. Coleman, died intestate in February 1971, unmarried and

without children. Betty Coleman, daughter of John H. Coleman, died intestate, June 1, 1991, unmarried and survived by four (4) children, Reginald Coleman, Ronald Coleman, Michael Coleman and Sharon Coleman. Nathaniel Coleman, son of John H. Coleman, died intestate on October 16, 1995, unmarried, survived by five (5) children, Tammy Coleman, Bridgette Coleman, Deifreda Coleman, Phillip Hatchet, and Iceola Weeks. Dave Coleman, son of John H. Coleman.

Rosa L. Burt, who may be alleged to be the daughter of Henry Waiters died intestate, unmarried, survived by one (1) son, Charles Burt.

Irene Watts, daughter of Henry and Bessie Waiters, died intestate on September 22, 1977 survived by her husband, Lester Watts and survived by one (1) child, Theodore R. Brewer. Thereafter, Lester Watts died unmarried leaving Theodore R. Brewer as his sole heir.

David Henry Waiters, son of Henry and Bessie Waiters, died intestate on November 14, 1955 survived by his wife, Leola Waiters, and survived by two (2) children, Betty J. Catoe and Tommie L. Waiters. Upon information and belief, upon the death of David Henry Waiters one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Leona Waiters, and two-thirds (2/3) of his interest in real property passed to his issue.

Tommie L. Waiters, son of David Henry Waiters, died intestate on March 1, 1990, unmarried and without children, leaving his mother, Leona Waiters, as his sole heir. Thereafter, upon information and belief, Leona Waiters died intestate and unmarried.

Harry L. Waiters, son of Henry and Bessie Waiters, died intestate on March 22, 1983 survived by his wife, Carrie Waiters, and survived by eleven (11) children, Ernest L. Waiters, Irene Carr, Janice Dixon, Donald F. Waiters, Rayford J. Waiters, Carolyn McKenny, Larry Waiters, Denise Allen, Kevin Waiters, Ginger Ann Waiters and Harry Waiters, Jr. Upon information and belief, upon the death of Harry L. Waiters one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Carrie Waiters, and two-thirds (2/3) of his

interest in real property passed to his issue. Harry Waiters, Jr., son of Harry L. Waiters, died intestate, unmarried, and survived by two (2) children, Harry Waiters, III, and Deshone Waiters, as his sole heirs.

Evelyn M. Lowery, the Respondent in this action, is the daughter of Henry and Bessie Waiters, and is a resident of Lancaster County, South Carolina.

Clairee Addison, daughter of Henry and Bessie Waiters, died intestate February 4, 1971, survived by her husband, Willie W. Addison and two (2) children, Bessie M. Waiters and Linda D. Addison. Upon information and belief, upon the death of Clairee Addison one-third (1/3) of her interest in real property passed to her husband, Willie W. Addison, and two-thirds (2/3) of her interest in real property passed to her issue.

Mary E. Coleman, the daughter of Henry and Bessie Waiters, is a resident of Buffalo, New York.

John C. Waiters, the son of Henry and Bessie Waiters, is a resident of Lancaster County, South Carolina.

Eliza Waiters Thompson, daughter of Can and Serena Waiters, conveyed all of her interest in and to the subject property to Henry Waiters by deed dated August 16, 1948 and filed in the Office of the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, South Carolina on August 16, 1948. Therefore, upon information and belief, the one-seventh (1/7) undivided interest that Eliza Waiters Thompson inherited from the estate of Can Waiters is now owned by the heirs of Henry Waiters. Therefore, the two-sevenths (2/7) undivided interest that Henry Waiters inherited from the estate of Can Waiters and acquired from Eliza Waiters Thompson is now owned by the heirs of Henry Waiters as follows:

Theodore R. Brewer	1/7
Estate of Leona Waiters	3/28
Betty J. Catoe	1/28
Carrie Waiters	1/21
Ernest L. Waiters	22/231
Irene Carr	22/231
Janice Dixon	22/231
Donald F. Waiters	22/231

Rayford J. Waiters	22/231
Carolyn McKenny	22/231
Larry Waiters	22/231
Denise Allen	22/231
Kevin Waiters	22/231
Ginger Ann Waiters	22/231
Harry Waiters, III	11/231
Deshone Waiters	11/231
Evelyn Lowery	1/7
Willie W. Addison	1/28
Bessie M. Waiters	1/28
Linda D. Addison	1/28
Mary E. Coleman	1/7
John C. Waiters	1/7

Manuel Waiters, son of Can Waiters, died intestate on January 7, 1919, survived by his wife, Josephine Waiters and survived by one (1) child, Anna B. Waiters. Upon the death of Manuel Waiters one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Josephine Waiters, and two-thirds (2/3) of his interest in real property passed to his child, Anna B. Waiters. That upon information and belief, Josephine Waiters died intestate and unmarried, leaving Anna B. Waiters as her sole heir. Anna B. Waiters, daughter of Manuel and Josephine Waiters, died unmarried and without children in Buffalo, New York. The one-seventh (1/7) undivided interest that Manuel Waiters inherited from the estate of Can Waiters is now owned by the heirs of Manuel Waiters as follows:

Estate of Anna B. Waiters	100%
---------------------------	------

Eliza Waiters Thompson, daughter of Can Waiters, died intestate in 1968, however, the specific date could not be determined, survived by her husband, Phelix Thompson and survived by one (1) child, Robert Thompson. Upon the death of Eliza Waiters Thompson one-third (1/3) of her interest in real property passed to her husband, Phelix Thompson, and two-thirds (2/3) of her interest in real property passed to her child, Robert Thompson. That upon information and belief, Phelix Thompson died intestate on December 8, 1971, unmarried, leaving Robert Thompson as his sole heir.

Robert Thompson, son of Eliza and Phelix Thompson, died intestate March 9, 1973, survived by his wife, Ophelia Thompson, and survived by three (3) children, William Paul Thompson, Bobby Ray Thompson and Horace Lee Thompson, and predeceased by one child, Andrew D. Thompson. Upon information and belief, upon the death of Robert Thompson one-third (1/3) of his interest in real property passed to his wife, Ophelia Thompson, and two-thirds (2/3) of his interest in real property passed to his issue. That upon information and belief Ophelia Thompson died intestate and unmarried on January 20, 2003, leaving her issue as her sole heirs.

Andrew D. Thompson, son of Robert and Ophelia Thompson, died intestate February 17, 1971, unmarried, without children, leaving his mother, Ophelia Thompson, as his sole heir.

Eliza Waiters Thompson conveyed all of her interest in and to the subject property to Henry Waiters by deed dated August 16, 1948 and filed in the Office of the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, South Carolina. The one-seventh (1/7) undivided interest that Eliza Waiters Thompson inherited from the estate of Can Waiters is now owned by the heirs of Henry Waiters as set forth above.

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