THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
AUG 30 2016
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

H. CLAYTON WALKER, JR., SPECIAL REFEREE

CASE NO. 2015-002243

Evelyn Lowery,Respondent,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

1. The Special Referee properly declared deeds void.

The Special Referee declared the deeds conveying title to the following described parcels of the Property to be void:

All of that real property conveyed to William C. Waiters, et. al. by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Deed Book W-6 at Page 167, Deed Book Z-9 at Page 51, Deed Book 0-9 at Page 125 and Deed Book 51 at Page 329, consisting of 30 acres, more or less, and being further that parcel identified as Tax Map # 130-00-28.01; and

All of that real property conveyed to Mary L. Bailey, Eula N. Daniel, James C. Bell, Monique Thompson, Darrell Waiters, Phinessa R. Waiters, Dervin Bailey and William G. Bailey by deed recorded in the Registry of Deeds for Lancaster County, SC in Book 139 at Page 82, consisting of 2 acres, more or less, and being further that parcel identified as Tax Map # 146-00-22.01; and

A title summary for TM#130-00-28.01 was admitted into evidence and marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit 1C and TM# 146-00-22.01 was admitted as Plaintiff's Exhibit 1D with copies of the relevant deeds attached.

Defendant John Waiters testified that he had lived on the Property for eighty years, was familiar with the history and all of the family associated with the property. (T. p. 42, l. 13-p. 43, l. 8) Waiters identified Plaintiff's Exhibit 1C as the parcel TM# 130-00-28.01 consisting of 31 acres, said property being part of the heir property but listed with a separate tax map number. He further testified that the deeds were not executed by the appropriate persons and that two acres had been cut off of the original 33 acre tract and improved, but nothing had ever been done to improve the remaining 31 acres. (T. p. 61, l. 5 – p. 63 l. 5) John Waiters also testified that deeds for the parcel TM# 146-0022.01 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1D) was not properly executed by the appropriate parties. (T. p. 64, l. 14 – p. 65, l. 17)

It was apparent at trial that the parties viewed the entirety of the Property as commonly owned. Appellant Kevin Waiters testified that it was the family's understanding that they could go anywhere on the Property and cut trees because it was heir property, "we were part of that heir property" and with regard to his family "that we hold a child's portion of the property". (T. p. 119, l. 17 – p. 120, l. 5) Defendant Donald Frank Waiters also spoke of a child's portion, "I am talking about the part we have, the child's portion that we have....I'm not talking about a specific place." (T. p. 132, l. 24 – p. 133, l. 5) Defendants John Waiters, Kevin Waiters and Donald Frank Waiters all testified about the taxes on all the Property being paid through a common account funded by cutting timber off the Property prior to the filing of this action. (T. p. 76, l.10-13; p. 109, l. 25 – p. 110 – l. 4; p. 130, l. 8 – 18)

Appellant asserts a claim on appeal that title should have been awarded through adverse possession, a claim that was not asserted at trial. Adverse possession is an actions at law. Frazier v. Smallseed, 384 S.C. 56, 61, 682 S.E.2d 8, 11 (Ct.App.2009) In actions at law tried by a judge without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed on appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports them. *Townes Assocs. Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976).

Adverse possession is an affirmative defense; Weston v. Morgan, 162 S.C. 177, 160 S.E. 436 (1931). The burden of proof of adverse possession is on the one relying thereon. 162 S.C. at 192, 160 S.E. 436. To constitute adverse possession, the possession must be actual, open, notorious, hostile, continuous, and exclusive for the entire statutory period. Mullis v. Winchester, 237 S.C. 487, 118 S.E.2d 61 (1961). No party presented evidence at trial that title to any parcel of the estate was acquired through possession that was actual, open, notorious, hostile,

continuous, and exclusive for the requisite period, in fact, the preponderance of evidence suggested a relatively harmonious co-tenancy by a number of persons living on and using the property cooperatively. The occupancy of the common property by....co-tenants is entirely consistent with the existence of the cotenancy and a recognition of the rights of the other cotenants to share the possession. Weston v. Morgan, 162 S.C. 177, 160 S.E. 436 (1931)

2. The Court did not err in not determining value of the properties with improvements on the subject Property.

Eight parties have residences located on the Property. They are all heirs and have an interest in the proper. The Court orderdd a 19.924 acre tract, identified as Exhibit 2 attached to the Order, containing all the improvements subdivided in kind to accommodate the unchallenged evidence presented that the parties did not wish to force any person living on the property to leave it. The parcel was Ordered divided among the eight persons based on the percentages of each owner set forth in exhibit 1.

The Courts' reasoning was well articulated complete with authorities as follows:

“Partition is an equitable action, and the procedure must be fair and equitable to all parties. Partition in kind is favored when it can be fairly made. The court is allowed to use equitable considerations such as length of ownership and sentimental attachment to property to guide it. The court may also consider the parties living situations, including whether a party has made significant improvements. The general rule is that a joint tenant who has placed permanent improvements on land is entitled in partition to compensation for those improvements -- the court does not want to enrich one owner at the expense of another. If the court can set off land with improvements for the party who made the improvements without material injury to others, that

part should be set off to the improving landowner. See *Campbell v. Jordan*, 382 S.C. 445 (Ct. App. 2009); *Tedder v. Tedder*, 109 S.C. 451 (1918); *Shumaker v. Shumaker*, 234 S.C. 421 (1959).”

The Court found the value of the Property without improvements or timber to be \$1,200.00 per acre (p. 6) and granted the heirs who made improvements their respective interests in the Property. All heirs were treated fairly and valuation of the improvements would have been a wasteful, meaningless exercise under the circumstances where the Court found the most equitable method for partitioning the property was partially in kind and partially by sale. A Court of Equity may allocate a portion of the property under partition to one or more heirs while disposing of the remainder by sale (*Bennett v. Floyd*, 237 S.C. 64, 115 W.E.2nd 659 (1960)) provided that it can be done without manifest injury to all co-tenants. *Few V. Few*, 242 S.C. 433, 131 S.E.2nd 248. There was no showing of manifest injury by the Appellant in the Courts method of partitioning the Property.

3. No statement allegedly written by Darryl Waiters was admitted in the record and if it was the admission was not objected to and was cumulative to other evidence showing timber had been cut from the Property.

Respondent does not find a statement allegedly written by Darryl Waiters to be in the record. However, if said statement was admitted no objection was made to the admission of the statement (“...objections to the admission of evidence must be made when evidence is presented at trial to preserve the error for appeal.” *Parr v. Gaines*, 309 S.C. 477, 481, 424 S.E.2d 515, 518 (Ct.App.1992)), and the statement would be merely cumulative to other evidence showing that timber had been cut from the property. Any error in admission of evidence cumulative to

other unobjected-to evidence is harmless. *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862.

4. The Court was justified in concluding that the Defendants Donald Frank Waiters and Carrie Waiters caused approximately \$8,189.00 worth of timber to be cut from the property during the pendency of this action.

Defendant John Waiters testified about Defendants Donald Frank Waiters and Appellant causing timber to be harvested during the pendency of this case. He testified that Petition for injunction was filed to stop the timber cutting in 2005 (T. p. 70, l. 18 – T. p. 72 l. 17) and that despite the 2005 injunction, again in 2009. (T. p. 74, l. 13 – p. 75, l. 20) He also testified that there was a family account and that monies from the cutting of timber during pendency of this action were not placed in the family account. (T p. 76, l. 10 – p. 84, l. 8)

Appellant testified that his family believed they could ignore the injunction based on legal advice they received. (T. p. 119, l. 23 – p. 121, l. 10) Defendant Donald Frank Waiters testified that Defendant Carrie was in possession of the records from the bank accounts from the cutting of the timber during the pendency of the trial that had been subpoenaed but never produced. (T. p. 136, l. 1 – p. 137, l. 14)

Forester Danny McKittrick testified about the value of standing timber and timber removed from the Property. He estimated the value of timber removed to be worth about \$10,000.00, “conservatively”. The Court found the value of the timber removed to be \$8,189.00.

An action to quiet title to property is an action in equity. *Jones v. Leagan*, 384 S.C. 1, 10, 681 S.E.2d 6, 11 (Ct.App.2009). “In an equitable action tried without a jury, the appellate court

can correct errors of law and may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Church v. McGee*, 391 S.C. 334, 342, 705 S.E.2d 481, 485 (Ct.App.2011). “Our equitable standard of review does not require this court to ignore the findings of the trial judge who heard the witnesses.” *Id.* at 343, 705 S.E.2d at 485. “Decisions relative to the veracity and credibility of witnesses can best be made by the trial judge who heard the witnesses and observed their demeanor.” *Id.* at 343, 705 S.E.2d at 485–86. According, having determined the veracity and credibility of the witnesses, the Court was justified in reaching findings of fact holding Defendants Donald Frank Waiters and Carrie Waiters accountable for monies withheld from the common funds of the Waiter funds.

5. This action is not subject to South Carolina Code of Laws, Section 15-61-75.

South Carolina Code of Laws Section 15-61-75(A) states that “Upon the filing of a petition for partition of real property owned by joint tenants or tenants in common, the court shall provide for the nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common who are interested in purchasing the property to notify the court of that interest no later than ten days prior to the date set for the trial of the case. The nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common shall be allowed to purchase the interests in the property as provided in this section whether default has been entered against them or not.”

The Legislative History of South Carolina Code of laws, Section 15-61-75 states “...effective May 25, 2006, applicable to all petitions for partition filed after that date.” This action was filed August 23, 2005 and is not subject to South Carolina Code of laws, Section 15-61-75. However, if the statute is found applicable to this action Respondent would argue that the Statute merely grants joint tenants and tenants in common who are interested in purchasing

the property the opportunity to “to notify the court of that interest no later than ten days prior to the date set for the trial of the case.” If the action had been filed after May 26, 2006 and the statute were applicable, and if interested parties had notified the Court of that interest in a timely manner, then the other provisions of the statute would have applied. The Appellant makes no assertion that any nonpetitioning joint tenant or tenant in common notified the Court of an interest in purchasing the Property prior to trial.

6. The Court acted within its discretion in valuing the property at \$1,200.00 per acre.

The Court found Andy Harper qualified to give an opinion regarding the value of rural unimproved real estate in Lancaster County. Harper identified comparable parcels similar to the Property by respect to location, use and character. Value of real property may be shown by evidence of the price realized from voluntary sales of similar property in the vicinity when not too remote in point of time. See *South Carolina State Highway Department v. Estate of R. M. League*, 251 S.C. 368 (1968) Harper opined that the property without improvements or timber would be valued in the range of \$ 1,200.00 to \$1,400.00. The Court determined the value of the Property to be \$1,200.00 based on the testimony of Harper which was within his discretion based upon the evidence presented.

7. The Court properly continued with the trial after the Appellant and Defendant Donald Frank Waiters alleged they were aware of a formerly unknown heir or heirs during the course of the trial.

The Appellant and Donald Frank Waiters raised the issue during trial that they were aware of persons professing to be offspring of Beaudry Waiters, one of the children of Can Waiters. The Court was made aware of this assertion by the Appellant and Donald Frank Waiters. (T. p. 67, l. 7

– p. 68, l. 7) No names, addresses or contact information were disclosed by Appellant or Donald Frank Waiters at the trial nor is any of this information alleged to be known in the Appellant's Brief.

All unknown heirs were properly served by publication and a Guardian ad Litem was appointed to represent their interests. The Appellant and Donald Frank Waiters alleged knowledge of heirs of Beaudry Waiters at the trial, however, there is no evidence of confirmation of the existence of heirs of Beaudry Waiters. The Special Referee properly continued the trial of the case to conclusion subject to protection of the interests of potential children of Beaudry Waiters.

CONCLUSION

The Special Referee listened to and considered evidence presented by the parties and was very mindful and respectful of their opinions. There were over 100 named parties to the action. He sought to issue an Order that would fair and equitable to all parties, one that would conclude this proceeding spanning over ten (10) years. From the evidence presented it was clear that all parties considered the subject Property to be Heir Property.

The argument presented by Appellant against partitioning in essence was that he wanted to preserve the status quo. He stated that "by not selling the property, as long as a Waiters was living in South Carolina, he had a place to stay." (T. p 114, l. 2-10). Appellant acknowledged that his family was part of the heir property line, did not own specific property, that they had acquired a child's portion of the property (child's percentage interest). (T. p. 132, l. 24 – p. 133, l. 5) He also argued that the partitioning of the Property would cause the property taxes to increase. (T. p. 117, l. 6-10) Appellant also did not object to an auction where Waiters were able to acquire the property (T. p. 128, l. 4-7). Donald Frank Waiters testified that the reason that he was doing what he was

doing was because it was heir property (T. p. 132, l. 3-11). He argued that by partitioning the property "everybody's going lose." (T p. 132, l. 12-16).

The Special Referee did not err in his finding that certain deeds not properly executed by all persons holding an interest in the portion of the Property when the deeds were executed. For the deeds to be effective they would have to have been signed by all co-owners of the property.

Appellant also seems to argue with regards to this first issue presented that no title search was performed in connection with this action. That is not the case. Persons found to have an ownership interest were made a party to the action. Counsel argues in her brief that "there was testimony from all parties involved tha the various family members had lived on the land for many decades, showing continuous, hostile, open, actual, notorious and exclusive use and ownership of the land" is contrart to testimony given at trial. Her statement on page 28 of the brief that "Appellant alleges the the family members have assumed active, open, and hostile possession of the property for more than a century, granting certain possessory rights through adverse possession" is also not supported by the testimony at trial.